
 

   
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
MEETING OF THE LICENSING AND PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEE 
 
 
DATE: MONDAY, 18 SEPTEMBER 2023  
TIME: 5:30 pm 
PLACE: Meeting Room G.01, Ground Floor, City Hall, 115 Charles 

Street, Leicester, LE1 1FZ 
 
 
Members of the Committee 
Councillor Singh Johal – Vice Chair 
Councillor Byrne – Co-Vice Chair 
Councillor Pickering – Co-Vice Chair 
 
Councillors, Adatia, Chauhan, Joannou, Joshi, Karavadra, Whittle 
 
Two unallocated Labour Group place 
 
Members of the Committee are summoned to attend the above meeting to 
consider the items of business listed overleaf. 
 
 
for The Monitoring Officer 

 
 
 
 

Officer contact: Aqil Sarang 
Democratic Support 

Leicester City Council 
City Hall, 115 Charles Street, Leicester, LE1 1FZ 

 (Tel. 0116 454 6354)  
Email: aqil.sarang@leicester.gov.uk  

 

mailto:aqil.sarang@leicester.gov.uk


Information for members of the public 
 
Attending meetings and access to information 
You have the right to attend formal meetings such as full Council, committee meetings, 
and Scrutiny Commissions and see copies of agendas and minutes.  
However, on occasion, meetings may, for reasons set out in law, need to consider some 
items in private. 
 
Dates of meetings and copies of public agendas and minutes are available on the 
Council’s website at www.cabinet.leicester.gov.uk, or by contacting us using the details 
below. 
 
Making meetings accessible to all 
 
Wheelchair access – Public meeting rooms at the City Hall are accessible to wheelchair users. 
Wheelchair access to City Hall is from the middle entrance door on Charles Street - press the plate 
on the right hand side of the door to open the door automatically. 
 
Braille/audio tape/translation - If you require this please contact the Democratic Support Officer 
(production times will depend upon equipment/facility availability). 
 
Induction loops - There are induction loop facilities in City Hall meeting rooms. Please speak to the 
Democratic Support Officer using the details below. 
 
Filming and Recording the Meeting - The Council is committed to transparency and supports 
efforts to record and share reports of proceedings of public meetings through a variety of means, 
including social media. In accordance with government regulations and the Council’s policy, 
persons and press attending any meeting of the Council open to the public (except Licensing Sub 
Committees and where the public have been formally excluded) are allowed to record and/or report 
all or part of that meeting.  Details of the Council’s policy are available at www.leicester.gov.uk or 
from Democratic Support. 
 
If you intend to film or make an audio recording of a meeting you are asked to notify the relevant 
Democratic Support Officer in advance of the meeting to ensure that participants can be notified in 
advance and consideration given to practicalities such as allocating appropriate space in the public 
gallery etc.. 
 
The aim of the Regulations and of the Council’s policy is to encourage public interest and 
engagement so in recording or reporting on proceedings members of the public are asked: 
 to respect the right of others to view and hear debates without interruption; 
 to ensure that the sound on any device is fully muted and intrusive lighting avoided; 
 where filming, to only focus on those people actively participating in the meeting; 
 where filming, to (via the Chair of the meeting) ensure that those present are aware that 

they may be filmed and respect any requests to not be filmed. 
 

Further information  
 
If you have any queries about any of the above or the business to be discussed, please contact 
Aqil Sarang, Democratic Support on (0116) 454 5591 or email aqil.sarang@leicester.gov.uk 
 
 
For Press Enquiries - please phone the Communications Unit on 454 4151 

http://www.leicester.gov.uk/
mailto:aqil.sarang@leicester.gov.uk


 

PUBLIC SESSION 
AGENDA 

 
FIRE / EMERGENCY EVACUATION 
If the emergency alarm sounds, you must evacuate the building immediately by the 
nearest available fire exit and proceed to the area outside the Ramada Encore Hotel 
on Charles Street as directed by Democratic Services staff. Further instructions will 
then be given. 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

 
 
 

 Members are asked to declare any interests they may have in the business on 
the agenda.  
 

3. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
 

Appendix A 
(Pages 1 - 4) 
 

 The minutes of the meeting held on 14 March 2023 have been circulated and 
the Committee will be asked to confirm them as a correct record. 
  
 

4. PETITIONS  
 

 
 
 

 The Monitoring Officer to report on the receipt of any petitions submitted in 
accordance with the Council’s procedures.  
 

5. QUESTIONS, REPRESENTATIONS, STATEMENTS OF 
CASE  

 

 
 
 

 The Monitoring Officer to report on the receipt of any questions, 
representations and statements of case submitted in accordance with the 
Council’s procedures.  
 

6. TAXI DRIVER RENEWAL PROCESS UPDATE  
 

Appendix B 
(Pages 5 - 12) 
 

 The Director for Neighbourhoods and Environmental Services submits a report 
on providing the Committee with an update on the Taxi Driver Renewal 
Process. 
 
Members of the Committee are recommended to note the report and pass any 
comments to the Director for Neighbourhoods and Environmental Services.  
 

7. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS  
 

 
 
 





 

 
 
 
 
 

Minutes of the Meeting of the 
LICENSING AND PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEE 
 
 
Held: TUESDAY, 14 MARCH 2023 at 5:30 pm 
 
 
 

P R E S E N T: 
 

Councillor Singh Johal (Chair)  
Councillor Pickering (Vice Chair) 

 
Councillor Gee Councillor Westley 

Councillor Whittle  Councillor Nangreave 
 

* * *   * *   * * * 
18. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
 Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Byrne, Cank, Fonseca 

and Shelton.  
 

19. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
 There were no declarations of interest.  

 
20. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 
 
 RESOLVED: 

that the minutes of the meeting held on 15 March 2022 be 
approved as a correct record. 

 
21. PETITIONS 
 
 The Monitoring Officer reported that no petitions had been submitted in 

accordance with the Council’s procedures. 

 
 

22. QUESTIONS, REPRESENTATIONS, STATEMENTS OF CASE 
 
 The Monitoring Officer reported that no questions, representations and 

statements of case had been submitted in accordance with the Council’s 
procedures. 
 

 

1

Appendix A



 

 
23. TAXI DRIVER KNOWLEDGE TEST 
 
 The Licensing Team Manger introduced the report and provided an overview of 

the contents of the report. 
 
As part of the discussions and response to Member questions it was noted 
that: 

 That elements of the practical driving test could be outsourced and that 
the Knowledge Test had moved on to be based on more local 
knowledge and was set out in a similar way to the Driving Standards 
Theory Test 

 Training providers who provide safeguarding training were similar to 
those who deliver the Speed Awareness Course 

 
In further discussions it was noted that the Licensing Team Manager had 
visited the Wolverhampton City Council training day which was delivered 
through external providers and covered the safeguarding element. There was 
no knowledge test although, participants were required to pass mandatory 
questions. 
 
Furthermore, it was noted that although this was brought to the previous 
Committee meeting, since then the service wanted to encompass more 
aspects, such as safeguarding before they are on the job and that a service 
provider had become available with procurement details in progress. This 
provider would allow the Licensing Team to set the questions and with the 
possibility to use the Central Library Training Room to deliver training sessions 
was deemed a more efficient manner. Members of the Committee agreed that 
this would be feasible and an effective use of resources. 
 
It was also noted that during the process taxi drivers and taxi business had 
been consulted and in which both agreed this was required and that the test 
should be reasonable and realistic. 
 
The Chief Licensing Officer noted that, this was a long time coming and that 
the product being considered was not available in the market previously with no 
suitable alternative. The process that was used currently was labour intensive, 
allowing for 8 tests daily and this new system would be a more suitable and 
efficient system to that which was proposed 12 months ago, allowing for 12 
tests daily on device provided by the team. The cost of the system would not 
come to the Council as the training is paid for by applicants. 
 
Members of the Committee suggested that it would be beneficial to include 
Members in the development process as they had local knowledge to input that 
could prevent drivers being a nuisance on the road and Members were 
supportive of test running the system. 
 
Members of the Committee also suggested that the new test system should be 
added to the penalty system, which would mean that drivers would require to 
redo the test rather than paying a fine as a sanction. 

2



 

 
RESOLVED: 

1) Members of the Committee welcome the report, and 
2) That the Licensing Team be requested to consult with the Members 

of the Committee in the preparation of the training system. 
 

24. TAXI LICENSING - VEHICLE CONDITION OF FITNESS 
 
 The Chief Licensing Officer introduced the report and outlined the standard 

conditions of the vehicle and how the advisory and mandatory conditions 
should meet the requirements. it was noted that the conditions of fitness were 
to ensure vehicles were safe and comfortable for the residents of the city. 
 
It was further noted that the Licensing Team did not want to lower their 
standards and that the conditions were monitored at the testing stations and 
that some conditions could lead to points as a sanction for the driver. 
 
As part of the discussions, Members of the Committee were happy for Officers 
to make the decisions. Some Members of the Committee suggested that CCTV 
in the vehicles should be prioritised and mandatory as part of the conditions. 
The Chair welcomed further discussions around CCTV in vehicles. 
 
As part of the discussions around CCTV in the vehicles, The Legal Officer to 
the Committee noted that, there was government guidance available, and 
Members needed to consider the option to make this a mandatory condition as 
the licensing authority would be the owner of the data collected but noted that 
CCTV in vehicles was currently voluntary and there was a policy in place 
regulated by ICO. 
 
Members of the Committee suggested that CCTV in vehicles in other 
authorities were proving to be beneficial, as it was a way of protecting the 
drivers and the service users. Additionally, it was noted Suggested that CCTV 
systems could be monitored and recorded on a database at the stations during 
the biannual MOT’s. In response to the Members suggestion, the Legal Officer 
further drew members attention to the policy in place which brings order to the 
approach of voluntary CCTV systems and suggested this was a good start. 
 
RESOLVED: 

1) That the Licensing and Public Safety Committee approve changes to 
the conditions, and 

2) That the report be noted. 
 

25. TAXI LICENSING - DRIVER RENEWALS 
 
 The Chief Licensing Officer introduced the report and gave the Committee an 

overview of the report. It was noted that late renewal figures were generally low 
and the new system had had positive impact on drivers who were no longer 
leaving things late. 
 
As part of the discussions Members of the Committee were happy and 

3



 

supported the changes. In response to queries raised about DBS checks, it 
was noted that this was mandatory and that this was done every 6 months and 
could potentially be done automatically in the future, which would also speed 
up the enforcement process. 
 
RESOLVED: 

1) That the Members of the Licensing and Public Safety Committee 
approve the changes, and 

2) That the report be noted. 
 

26. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS 
 
 There were no other items of urgent business. 

 
27. CLOSE OF MEETING 
 
 The meeting closed at 7.07 pm 

 

4



  

 

 

 

 

Taxi Licensing – 
Driver Renewals 

Update 
Licensing & Public Safety Committee 

 

Date of meeting: 18 September 2023 

 

Lead director/officer: Sean Atterbury, Director of 
Neighbourhood & Environmental Services 

 
 
 
 

5

Appendix B



 

 

Useful information 
 Ward(s) affected: All 

 Report author: Deborah Bragg, Licensing Manager (Policy and Applications) 

 Author contact details: deborah.bragg@leicester.gov.uk 

 Report version number: 1 

 

1. Summary 
 
1.1 The process for renewing taxi driver licences (hackney and private hire) was revised 

in February 2023. The report is to provide an update on the system since 
implementation. 

 

2. Recommended actions/decision 
 
2.1    It is recommended that the report be noted. 

 

3. Scrutiny / stakeholder engagement 
 
3.1 The revised procedure was developed in consultation with the Legal Team. Cllr Clair, 

the then Deputy City Mayor for Culture, Leisure, Sport and Regulatory Services was 
informed and details of the new process sent to all licensed drivers and their 
representatives on 5 February 2023. 
 

 

4. Background and options with supporting evidence  
 
4.1 The Town Police Clauses Act 1847 makes provision for councils to license hackney 

carriage drivers. The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 makes 
provision for councils to license drivers of private hire vehicles. 

4.2 Both types of licence must be renewed before they expire and licence holders are 
reminded of this requirement in advance. Most drivers do apply in good time and 
their applications are determined before the existing licence expires. However, there 
are occasions when licence holders apply close to the deadline, or when 
applications are incomplete at the expiry date. Officers reviewed the process in 
relation to these applications and established that the procedure needed to be 
amended to ensure that applications are determined within the correct timescale. 

4.3 Colleagues from Legal Services took part in the review and are content with the new 
process. 

 

5. Detailed report 
 
5.1 The former process for driver renewals began with licence holders being sent 

renewal reminders 6-8 weeks before their existing licence was due to expire. This 
was to allow sufficient time for them to apply and submit supporting information 
before the expiry date. 

5.2 Whilst most applications were received and determined before the expiry date, some 
remained incomplete by the deadline. Officers would process applications after the 
expiry date having informed the applicant that they were not licensed in the interim 
period and so could not work as a taxi driver. However, it came to light that this was 

6



 

 

not the correct procedure and applications must be determined no later than the 
expiry date of the existing licence. As a result officers developed a revised process. 

5.3 The renewal process is now started earlier to give licence holders plenty of time to 
complete their application and have it properly determined before the expiry date. 

5.4 Renewal reminders are sent as a courtesy although there is no legal requirement to 
do so. These are issued 12 weeks before the licence expiry date. The reminders set 
out clearly that the licensing authority will determine applications no later than the 
expiry date and that incomplete applications will be refused. To achieve this, licence 
holders are advised to submit their complete application (i.e. including payment and 
any supporting information) no later than six weeks before the expiry date. However, 
applications continue to be accepted right up to the expiry date. 

5.5 Applicants are required to update the licensing authority if anything changes 
between the submission of the application and the licence expiry date. 

5.6 There are three different scenarios for applications. These are described below and 
are illustrated in the table at Appendix A. 

5.7 Scenario 1 - Application received and able to be determined before expiry date 

5.7.1 In most cases the application is received in good time and is determined before the 
expiry date, and the renewed licence issued to commence the day after the expiry 
date. This should be the case even if referral to the Head of Service or the Licensing 
Enforcement Sub-Committee is required. If the determination is to refuse to renew, 
the applicant has the right of appeal. 

5.8 Scenario 2 - Application received but incomplete at expiry date 

5.8.1 Applications that are incomplete on the expiry date are considered by a Licensing 
Team Manager. If the Team Manager is of the opinion that the applicant has not 
satisfied all the pre-licensing checks the application is refused. Noting that the onus 
is on the authority to show that the applicant is no longer suitable to be licensed as a 
taxi driver, Team Managers have discretion to grant a renewed licence where 
appropriate (e.g., where there is a minor clarification awaited on a medical report) 
and the Team Manager believes there is insufficient evidence to warrant a refusal. 

5.8.2 Where an application becomes complete just before the expiry date and requires 
determination by the Licensing & Public Safety Sub-Committee or the Head of 
Service but there is insufficient time available for this to take place, the Team 
Manager refuses the application. 

5.8.3 Where a renewal application is refused the applicant may appeal and is permitted to 
drive in the 21-day appeal window or until any appeal is determined. During the 
appeal period the applicant may satisfy the outstanding pre-licensing checks and be 
granted a new licence, in which case the appeal is withdrawn. If completed pre-
licensing checks warrant higher level determination, then referral to the Head of 
Service or the Sub-Committee will be necessary. 

5.8.4 Late renewals may be accepted in exceptional circumstances (in accordance with 
caselaw) but this is only for a few days and the circumstances must be more 
exceptional as time passes. In such cases drivers cannot work pending 
determination. Any grant would be from the date of determination. The appeal period 
for any refusal would begin from the date of determination. By requiring submission 
of applications 6 weeks before the expiry date, cases with an ‘exceptional’ reason 
are rare. 

 

7



 

 

5.9 Scenario 3 - Application not received by expiry date 

5.9.1 In all other cases where an application is not received before the expiry date, the 
licence lapses, and no appeal is possible. In such cases, drivers must apply for a 
new licence if they wish to continue to drive licensed vehicles. 

5.10 Circumstances where determination should be made by the Sub-Committee or by 
the Head of Service are referred to in the constitution, as follows: 

MATTERS RESERVED TO THE LICENSING ENFORCEMENT SUB COMMITTEE 

1. Applications for a licence, consent or permit where a representation has been 
received from a ward councillor, a member of the public or an external organisation, 
(excluding the Licensing Act 2003 and Gambling Act 2005). 

2. Applications for a licence, consent or permit where the Director Neighbourhoods & 
Environmental Services considers that the existing policy does not provide sufficient 
clarity on determining the application and/or where it would be more appropriate for 
the application to be determined by the Sub-Committee. 

3. Applications for a licence, consent or permit which the law determines cannot be 
taken by an officer. 

All matters within the Terms of Reference of a Licensing Sub-Committee which are 
not reserved to Full Council, the Licensing and Public Safety Committee or a Sub-
Committee as stated above, are delegated to the Director Neighbourhoods & 
Environmental Services. 

5.11 The Sub-Committee traditionally sat on the first Tuesday of every month. This has 
now moved to the end of each month to allow consideration of renewal applications 
within a reasonable timescale and to avoid refusals just because they don’t fit in with 
the Sub-Committee report deadlines.  

5.12 Head of Service Hearings generally take place on the same day as the Sub-
Committee but can be more flexible as required.  

6 Update on Implementation 

6.1 The new process was implemented in February 2023 with the first formal refusal 
notices issued on 1 March 2023 for those applications not determined by 28 February 
2023. As of 31 August 2023, there have been 62 refusal notices issued for various 
reasons. 
 

6.2 Broken down into months, the number of refusal notices issued is below:- 
 
February 2023 – 14 
March 2023 – 14 
April 2023 – 4 
May – 6 
June – 11 
July – 5 
August - 8 
 

6.3 As expected the first couple of months a higher number of refusal notices were issued 
as the new process embedded.  
 
 
 

8



 

 

6.4 Appeals have been lodged in a handful of cases by drivers who have not had the 
required information in place before the expiry of the appeal period. In all cases they 
have subsequently obtained the missing information and a new licence issued with the 
appeal being withdrawn from Court. 
 

6.5  The majority of applicants obtain the missing information within the 21day appeal 
period and a new licence can be issued. 
 

6.6 The main reasons for refusal are:- 
 

An Enhanced Disclosure and Barring Service Disclosure not being received; 
 
A Group Two Medical Certificate/Annual Diabetic Report not being received. 
 

6.7  The online application form has been developed to allow drivers to apply to renew their 
licence in plenty of time and allows them to opt to submit information at a later date – 
this includes the Medical where required and any other Medical Report that an 
individual may be required to submit.  

 

 
 
7. Financial, legal, equalities, climate emergency and other implications 
 
7.1 Financial implications 
 

7.1.1  There are no significant financial implications arising from this report. 
 

Stuart McAvoy – Head of Finance, 37 4004 
 

 
7.2 Legal implications  
 

7.2.1. Section 61(1) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 lists the 
grounds on which a Council may suspend, revoke or [on application therefor under 
section 46 of the Act of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 or section 51 of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976] refuse to renew the licence of a 
driver of a hackney carriage or a private hire vehicle. 

 
7.2.2. Section 61(3) provides drivers with a right of appeal against a decision to the 

Magistrates' Court. 
 
7.2.3. Section 77(2) provides: If any requirement, refusal or other decision of a district 

council against which a right of appeal is conferred by this Act - 
 

(a) involves the execution of any work or the taking of any action; or 
(b) makes it unlawful for any person to carry on a business which he was lawfully 
carrying on up to the time of the requirement, refusal or decision; 
 
then, until the time for appealing has expired, or, when an appeal is lodged, until the 
appeal is disposed of or withdrawn or fails for want of prosecution - 
 
 

9



 

 

(i) no proceedings shall be taken in respect of any failure to execute the work, or 
take the action; and 
(ii) that person may carry on that business. 

 
7.2.4. In Greater London, section 17(7) of The Transport Act 1985 applies and provides - 

Where a person holds a licence which is in force when he applies for a new licence 
in substitution for it, the existing licence shall continue in force until the application 
for the new licence, or any appeal under this section in relation to that application, is 
disposed of, but without prejudice to the exercise in the meantime of any power of 
the licensing authority to revoke the existing licence. 

 
7.2.5   Section 17(7) of The Transport Act 1985 does not apply outside of Greater London 

and there is no equivalent ‘continue in force’ provision within the legislation which 
does apply i.e. there is no statutory provision for a licence to remain valid until the 
Council’s determination process has been determined.  

 
7.2.6   R (on the application of Exeter City Council) v Sandle [2011] considered the renewal 

of a hackney carriage vehicle licence where the application for renewal was made 
one day late. In the circumstances of that case the Court accepted that the licence 
should have been renewed and whilst there was no particular period, only in 
exceptional circumstances would an application for renewal be entertained after a 
delay of two to three days. 

 
John Moss, Legal Services, 373010 

 

 
7.3 Equalities implications  

 

7.3.1  Under the Equality Act 2010 (including the local authority and schools), have a Public 
Sector Equality Duty (PSED) which means that, in carrying out their functions, they 
have a statutory duty to pay due regard to the need to eliminate unlawful 
discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited by the Act, 
to advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who don’t and to foster good relations between people who 
share a protected characteristic and those who don’t.  

 
7.3.2  Protected Characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 are age, disability, gender 

reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion 
or belief, sex, sexual orientation.  

 
7.3.3  The report provides an update on the implementation of the revised process for 

renewing taxi driver licences (hackney and private hire) along with the number of 
formal refusal notices being issued and the reasons for these. Going forward it is 
important that any communication of the changes continues to be accessible.   

 
Sukhi Biring, Equalities Officer, 454 4175  
 

 
7.4 Climate Emergency implications 

 
 

7.4.1  There are no significant climate emergency implications associated with this report. 
 

10



 

 

Aidan Davis, Sustainability Officer, Ext 37 2284 

 
7.5 Other implications (You will need to have considered other implications in preparing this 
report.  Please indicate which ones apply?) 

 

None 
 

 

8.  Background information and other papers: 

None 

 

9.  Summary of appendices:  

Appendix A – Illustration of scenarios 

 

10.  Is this a private report (If so, please indicate the reasons and state why it is not in 
the public interest to be dealt with publicly)?  

No 

 

11.  Is this a “key decision”? If so, why?  

No 

 

  

11



 

 

APPENDIX A - Illustration of three possible scenarios: 
 

Original licence in effect Original licence expired - renewed licence 
needed  

Reminder 
letters 

Application 
phase (6 
weeks) 

Determination 
phase (6 
weeks) 

Day 1 after 
expiry 

Day 1-21 after 
expiry 

Day 22+ after 
expiry 

Sent out 
12 weeks 

before 
expiry date 

Renewal 
application 
received 

Renewal 
application 
determined 

before 
expiry date 

E
X

P
IR

Y
 D

A
T

E
 

Renewed licence in effect from day 1 

Sent out 
12 weeks 

before 
expiry date 

Renewal 
application 

received but 
not complete 

Renewal 
application 
incomplete 

/ out of 
time 

Refuse to 
renew – 

determined 
by Team 
Manager 

Appeal window – 
may continue 

driving 

If appeal lodged 
– may continue 

driving until 
appeal is 

determined or 
withdrawn 

Pre-licensing checks may be 
completed and determined as a new 
application using usual procedure – 

grant or refusal starts from 
determination date (i.e., appeal 

window begins from determination 
of new application, not from original 

expiry date) 

Sent out 
12 weeks 

before 
expiry date 

No renewal 
application 
received 

No 
renewal 

application 
received 
by expiry 

date 
 

Late renewal application – if 
application is complete may 

consider exceptional 
circumstances in the first few 

days; driver can’t work pending 
determination; grant or refusal 
starts from determination date 

(i.e., appeal window begins from 
determination of new application 

not from original expiry date) 

 

No renewal application – licence lapsed; no appeal 

 
 

12


	Agenda
	3 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
	Minutes

	6 TAXI DRIVER RENEWAL PROCESS UPDATE

